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I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

In seeking preliminary approval of the settlement, and then requesting nearly $10 million 

in attorneys’ fees, costs, and service awards, Plaintiffs claimed that the settlement constitutes a 

“clear” or “unambiguous” victory for them.  Dkt No. 138 at 1, 28.  The Trustees support 

approval of the settlement, as it will put some desperately needed money into the American 

Federation of Musicians and Employers’ Pension Plan (the “Plan”), remove the distractions 

associated with a long trial, and enable the Trustees to focus on the important issues confronting 

the Plan.1  But, as Plan fiduciaries, the Trustees believe it is important to set the record straight 

with respect to the merits of the underlying claims and the degree of success that Plaintiffs 

achieved in settlement.  This should inform the Court in evaluating both the objections to the 

settlement received from several class members,2 and Plaintiffs’ application for attorneys’ fees, 

costs, and service awards, which come out of the settlement proceeds. 

The objections reflect the misguided belief that the Plan has been mismanaged, and thus 

that more draconian measures should be required as a condition for a settlement.  That belief has 

been fueled by the manner in which Plaintiffs have argued their case, both in court and in public.  

Plaintiffs have repeatedly made outlandish unsupported assertions about the Trustees’ “doubling 

down” on investment risk and investing like “drunken sailors.”  Plaintiffs figured that someone 

would start believing them, and some participants eventually did.  But the extensive record of 

robust Trustee deliberations exposed this tactic for what it was – a mere charade. 

                                                 
1  As is evident from the letters to the Court submitted by the International Conference of 
Symphony and Opera Musicians (“ICSOM”) and other individual class members, there are 
thousands of participants who, for similar reasons, would like to see the settlement approved.  
See Dkt No. 180 at ECF p. 16 (Namkung), p. 21 (Cutler); Dkt No. 183 at ECF p. 18 (ICSOM). 
2  Defendants reserve the right to respond to other objections received after this brief is filed. 
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Plaintiffs’ inability to prove their case was brought into focus during expert discovery.  

Plaintiffs’ principal claim was that the Trustees took on too much investment risk in response to 

the Plan’s funding shortfall by targeting higher rates of return.  Yet, remarkably, Plaintiffs 

presented this claim without the benefit of an expert actuary – the one professional who could 

competently assess and balance the risks of increasing the targeted investment returns against the 

risks of maintaining the status quo.  The Trustees, by contrast, presented a report from a 

renowned actuary with extensive experience in the Taft-Hartley fund arena, Cary Franklin.  His 

report demonstrated why the Trustees’ decisions to increase the Plan’s targeted rates of return 

were precisely the right decisions at the right time.  Following receipt of Mr. Franklin’s report, 

Plaintiffs were left scrambling for a rebuttal expert, but he could not identify any alternative plan 

of action that was calculated to fare better than the actions taken by the Trustees. 

The Trustees’ expert reports likewise demonstrated the procedural prudence underlying 

the investment decisions targeted in the lawsuit, including the decisions to increase the Plan’s 

investments in international emerging markets equities (“EMEs”) and private equity (“PE”), and 

to invest and remain with certain active managers.  Phyllis Borzi, the former Assistant Secretary 

of Labor for the U.S. Department of Labor’s Employee Benefits Security Administration 

division, the agency responsible for setting and enforcing fiduciary standards, concluded that the 

Trustees engaged in processes that equaled – and in many respects exceeded – the standards 

maintained by prudent Taft-Hartley fund trustees.  Here, too, Plaintiffs had to scramble to come 

up with a response to Ms. Borzi.  Their rebuttal expert, Dr. Susan Mangiero, lacked any relevant 

experience in the Taft-Hartley plan arena and never even attended an investment committee 
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meeting.3  And she based her opinions on erroneous assertions about the record evidence – 

including the completely unfounded assertion that the Trustees did not follow the advice of the 

Plan’s professionals. 

Even if Plaintiffs could somehow have prevailed on their claims, moreover, the reports of 

the parties’ damages experts revealed there was little or no monetary relief to be had.  See Dkt 

No. 138 at 2.  Plaintiffs admitted as much in their attorneys’ fee application.  In fact, they cited 

this shortcoming as proof of how successful they were in settling this case.  Dkt No. 167 at 23-

24.  Yet, when the case began, they were claiming damages of nearly a quarter billion dollars. 

If success is measured against Plaintiffs’ likelihood of prevailing at trial, then the 

Trustees would agree that the settlement was a good outcome for the class – as it was for the 

Plan – given the weakness of the claims.  But relative to what Plaintiffs proclaimed about their 

case – and what they unfortunately led class members to believe about the merits of their claims 

– the results are decidedly modest.  Contrary to their assertion, Plaintiffs did not recover most of 

the available insurance money.  Some $15 million in insurance proceeds were left on the table.  

The so-called “Governance Provisions” similarly fell short of expectations.  Plaintiffs originally 

demanded the replacement of Trustees, even while now conceding that this relief was legally 

unobtainable.  Dkt No. 167 at 22.  Yet they eventually settled instead for the removal of the 

Plan’s investment consultant – whose primary responsibilities had already been eliminated 

because of the Trustees’ earlier retention of an Outsourced Chief Investment Officer (“OCIO”) 

to play the principal role in managing Plan investments.  The settlement also calls for the 

retention of an experienced independent fiduciary to participate in Investment Committee 

                                                 
3  As is evident from Ms. Borzi’s expert report, before taking on her position with the 
Department of Labor, she spent her legal career representing Taft-Hartley funds. 
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meetings, where he undoubtedly will make a helpful contribution.  Dkt No. 138 at 3.  The 

Trustees welcome his arrival, in fact, since, in the destructive environment Plaintiffs have helped 

create, he will confirm that the Trustees have been engaged in a vital and productive decision-

making process with respect to the Plan’s investments, as Ms. Borzi already concluded after 

evaluating the record in this case. 

When all is said and done, Plaintiffs have needlessly extended this lawsuit for years and, 

in the process, tarnished the reputations of conscientious and well-meaning Trustees, and 

discouraged other union and industry leaders from volunteering to take on the responsibilities of 

being a trustee.  For this, Plaintiffs’ counsel now seek millions of dollars in attorneys’ fees, based 

on a percentage calculation that exceeds the norm for common fund attorneys’ fee awards.  

Plaintiffs’ counsel could not possibly have justified this large a fee if Plaintiffs had 

acknowledged the weaknesses in their case and agreed to a reasonable settlement sooner, instead 

of dragging this case out to the eve of trial.  It is hoped that the Court will take these realities into 

consideration and reduce the attorneys’ fee award accordingly – to an amount below, rather than 

above, their claimed lodestar.  At the same time, it is hoped that, by evaluating the settlement 

against the fundamental weaknesses in Plaintiffs’ claims, the Court will reject the misguided 

participant objections and find that the settlement achieves for the Plan and its participants a 

much better result than Plaintiffs could ever have achieved at trial. 

II. APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD 

Plaintiffs pay lip service to the factors developed in Goldberger v. Integrated Resources, 

Inc., 209 F.3d 43, 50 (2d Cir. 2000), for evaluating common fund fee applications, but then rely 

on a handful of cherry-picked – and totally inapposite – ERISA settlements where courts 

awarded a 33.33% fee.  Dkt No. 167 at 4-7.  A proper review of the legal standards and a more 

fulsome review of the applicable case law point to a much lower award. 
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As this Court recently explained in Espinal v. Victor's Cafe 52nd Street, Inc., No. 16-cv-

8057, 2019 WL 5425475 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 23, 2019), courts in this Circuit have applied the 

Goldberger factors in accordance with a three-step approach.  Id., at *2 (citing McGreevy v. Life 

Alert Emergency Response, Inc., 258 F. Supp. 3d 380 (S.D.N.Y. 2017); In re Colgate-Palmolive 

Co. ERISA Litig., 36 F. Supp. 3d 344, 348 (S.D.N.Y. 2014)).  See also Grice v. Pepsi Beverages 

Co., 363 F. Supp. 3d 401, 406 (S.D.N.Y. 2019).  First, they determine a baseline reasonable fee, 

by considering empirical evidence of other common fund settlements of a similar size and 

complexity.  Espinal, 2019 WL 5425475, at *2.4  The size of the settlement is particularly 

important in setting a baseline fee, since courts apply a “sliding scale” approach, awarding a 

smaller percentage as the size of the settlement fund increases.  Id. 

Second, courts determine whether any adjustments to the baseline fee – up or down – are 

warranted under the Goldberger factors of risk, quality of the representation, and public policy 

concerns.  Id., at *3. 

Third, courts cross-check the fee award against the lodestar amount.  Id., at *4.  

Depending on the surrounding circumstances, courts may award a multiplier of the lodestar, but 

may also reduce the lodestar.  See Quaratino v. Tiffany & Co., 166 F.3d 422, 425 (2d Cir. 1999) 

(“[T]he district court should exclude excessive, redundant or otherwise unnecessary hours”); 

Kirsch v. Fleet St., Ltd., 148 F.3d 149, 173 (2d Cir. 1998) (same). 

When these factors are properly applied, they demonstrate that Plaintiffs’ counsel is 

entitled to no more than about 25% of the Settlement Amount, or $6,700,000 (plus costs), rather 

                                                 
4  See also Colgate-Palmolive, 36 F. Supp. 3d at 349-52 (examining empirical studies in setting 
attorneys’ fee percentage in ERISA case); In re GSE Bonds Antitrust Litig., No. 19-cv-1704, 
2020 WL 3250593, at *5 n.2 and n.3 (S.D.N.Y. June 16, 2020) (antitrust); James v. China Grill 
Mgmt., Inc., No. 18 Civ. 455, 2019 WL 1915298 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 30, 2019) (FLSA); Grice, 363 
F. Supp. 3d at 406 (FCRA). 
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than the one-third they are seeking; and potentially less, depending on what an evaluation of the 

backup information on counsel’s actual time charges reveals. 

III. THE ONE-THIRD FEE REQUESTED BY PLAINTIFFS’ COUNSEL IS FAR 
ABOVE THE REASONABLE BASELINE ESTABLISHED BY OTHER ERISA 
SETTLEMENTS OF SIMILAR SIZE 

Plaintiffs’ request for one-third of the Settlement Amount should be rejected under the 

first step of the Goldberger test because it far exceeds the average percentage award for other 

ERISA settlements in the same range.  Empirical studies show that, for all class action 

settlements in the $23.5-67.5 million range (representing the ninth decile), the average 

percentage award is just above 24%.  Theodore Eisenberg, Geoffrey Miller, and Roy Germano, 

Attorneys’ Fees in Class Actions: 2009–2013, 92 N.Y.U. L. Rev. 937, 948 (2017) (cited in 

Grice, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 407).  There is no reason to assume that the percentage awarded here 

should be greater just because this is an ERISA case.  To the contrary, both the mean and median 

percentage award for all ERISA cases, irrespective of amount, is 26%, which is actually 1% 

lower than the average fee percentage for all other common fund settlements.  Id. at 947, 952.  

See also Colgate-Palmolive, 36 F. Supp. 3d at 349-52 (concluding, based on earlier data, that 

ERISA fee percentage awards did not differ significantly from percentage awards in other 

common fund settlements).  Accordingly, a 25% award would be eminently reasonable here in 

light of the size of the settlement and the fact that ERISA settlements carry no premium. 

Plaintiffs attempt to justify a higher percentage award by cherry-picking ten ERISA cases 

in which courts awarded one third of the settlement fund in fees.  Dkt No. 167 at 6-7.  But for 

every case awarding one-third, there is an ERISA case awarding a lower amount.5  Not 

                                                 
5  See, e.g., Figas v. Wells Fargo & Co., No. 08-cv-04546 (D. Minn. 2011), ECF No. 295 
(Order on Attorney’s Fees) & ECF No. 264 (Motion for Attorney’s Fees) (awarding fee of 25% 
from a $17.5 million settlement fund); In re Healthsouth Corp. ERISA Litig., No. 03-cv-1700, 
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surprisingly, courts in this Circuit have rejected such efforts to gerrymander the results with such 

a small, and hand-selected, sampling.  See Colgate-Palmolive, 36 F. Supp. 3d at 349-50 

(rejecting reliance on hand-picked cases and requiring class counsel to prepare report showing 

percentage fee award in 100 ERISA settlements).  Instead, as one court in this Circuit explained 

in declining to rely on select settlements to identify a baseline, “empirical studies . . . paint a far 

more comprehensive picture of the average percentage awarded to counsel in common fund 

settlements, thereby minimizing any potential sampling biases.”  Grice, 363 F. Supp. 3d at 407.  

And, as noted, the empirical studies here point to a much lower baseline. 

Moreover, even in the cases Plaintiffs cite, the awards – if anything – support a lower fee 

either because (1) the settlements were much smaller than the one here, thereby warranting a 

higher percentage award;6 (2) the requested fee represented only a portion of class counsel’s 

lodestar;7 or (3) participants received substantial monetary value from the settlement’s injunctive 

relief, which was not factored into the percentage-of-award calculation.8  None of those 

                                                 
2006 WL 2109484, at *6 (N.D. Ala. June 28, 2006) (awarding fee of 25% from a $28.875 
million settlement fund). 
6  Leber v. Citigroup 401(k) Plan Inv. Comm., No. 07-cv-9329, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23593, 
at *12 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 3, 2019) ($6.9 million); Andrus v. New York Life Ins. Co., No. 16-cv-
05698, (S.D.N.Y. June 15, 2017), ECF No. 83 at 2 ($3 million); Spann v. AOL Time Warner, 
Inc., No. 02-cv-8238, 2005 WL 1330937, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. June 7, 2005) ($2.9 million). 
7  In re Marsh ERISA Litig., 265 F.R.D. 128, 146-50 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (awarding 33% of a $35 
million settlement where case involved a novel area of ERISA law, increasing risk of dismissal, 
and fee requested was only 88% of the lodestar); Beesley v. Int'l Paper Co., No. 06-cv-703, 2014 
WL 375432, at *3 (S.D. Ill. Jan. 31, 2014) (awarding one third of $30 million settlement, where 
fee requested was more than $2 million less than lodestar). 
8  Kruger v. Novant Health, Inc., No. 14-cv-208, 2016 WL 6769066, *1-5 (M.D.N.C. Sept. 29, 
2016) (awarding 33.33% of $32 million settlement where settlement also provided for redesign 
of plan’s fee mechanism estimated to generate direct cost-savings for participants of up to $70 
million in future fees); Tussey v. ABB, Inc., No. 06-cv-04305, 2019 WL 3859763, *1-5 and n.1 
(W.D. Mo. Aug. 16, 2019) (awarding 33.33% of $55 million settlement that provided an 
additional 18.6% to class members in tax savings and where class counsel obtained injunctive 
relief pre-settlement that translated into $83 million in savings for participants); Ramsey v. 

Case 1:17-cv-05361-VEC   Document 184   Filed 07/27/20   Page 13 of 39



 

8 

circumstances exist here, where Class Counsel’s requested fee is $1 million more than their 

lodestar and participants will receive no monetary benefit from the Governance Provisions. 

IV. PLAINTIFFS HAVE NOT PROFFERED GROUNDS FOR AN UPWARD 
ADJUSTMENT OF THE BASELINE PERCENTAGE 

Plaintiffs have provided no grounds for upwardly adjusting the baseline percentage under 

the Goldberger factors of risk, quality of representation, and public policy issues. 

Plaintiffs’ arguments with respect to risk and public policy considerations deserve short 

shrift.  Dkt No. 167 at 15-18, 19.  Plaintiffs have identified no risk that Class Counsel assumed 

beyond the typical litigation and contingency risk that all plaintiffs’ lawyers face, and which 

courts have discounted in awarding fees.  Espinal, 2019 WL 5425475, at *3.  Likewise, 

Plaintiffs’ contention that an enhanced award will serve the public policy of protecting 

participants is no different than in any other ERISA case.  Colgate-Palmolive, 36 F. Supp. 3d at 

352-53 (declining to adjust fee percentage based on public policy factor because of alleged 

importance of ERISA’s goals and policies).  If anything, public policy interests militate against 

an enhanced award.  It is undisputed that these Trustees worked hard, at no personal gain, to try 

to restore the Plan’s financial well-being.  This protracted litigation, and the public manner in 

which it has been conducted in an effort to embarrass or discredit the Trustees, has likely served 

to discourage other industry and union leaders from volunteering for the seemingly thankless and 

unpaid, but essential, job of serving on employee benefit plan boards. 

                                                 
Philips N. Am. LLC, No. 18-cv-1099, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 226672, at *7 (S.D. Ill. Oct. 15, 
2018) (explaining that injunctive relief translated into an additional circa $20 million value to 
class members, such that fee percentage awarded was actually 14%, rather than one-third); 
Spano v. Boeing Co., No. 06-cv-743, 2016 WL 3791123, at *2 (S.D. Ill. Mar. 31, 2016) (noting 
that injunctive relief translated into millions of dollars of savings in recordkeeping and 
investment fees, making the requested fee “far less than one-third of the benefit to the Class”). 

Case 1:17-cv-05361-VEC   Document 184   Filed 07/27/20   Page 14 of 39



 

9 

Plaintiffs fare no better when considering the quality of Class Counsel’s representation.  

“Quality of representation is ‘best measured by results.’”  Espinal, 2019 WL 5425475, at *3 

(quoting Goldberger, 209 F.3d at 55).  Plaintiffs might have been entitled to an upward 

adjustment of the 25% baseline percentage if they had in fact achieved the “complete victory” 

they have been crowing about; and if they had done so by presenting a strong case on the merits.  

But a comparison of what Plaintiffs originally sought to achieve in this case to what they actually 

achieved, and of what they sought to prove in this case and what they actually proved, paints a 

much different picture and shows why Class Counsel are not entitled to any premium over the 

baseline.  If anything, the evaluation points in the other direction, insofar as it shows that 

Plaintiffs needlessly prolonged this litigation in pursuit of a larger recovery than they could ever 

reasonably have hoped to obtain.  In the process, they forced the Trustees to consume many 

millions of dollars in insurance proceeds for their defense that would otherwise have been 

available to settle the case sooner, while substantially increasing the portion of the recovery that 

their attorneys are now claiming for themselves. 

A. The Relief Achieved in Settlement is Anything but a “Complete Victory” 

Plaintiffs want the Court to believe that the monetary and nonmonetary relief they 

obtained through the Settlement Agreement proves that they were completely victorious in 

pursuing their claims.  Because Plaintiffs are trying to parlay this assertion into their claimed 

entitlement to $9 million in attorneys’ fees (plus costs), a corrective response is warranted. 

1. The Settlement Did Not Achieve the Monetary Recovery  
Plaintiffs Sought in Their Complaint or Exhaust  
Available Insurance Proceeds 

Plaintiffs originally sought recovery of investment losses that they claimed approached a 

quarter billion dollars.  See Dkt. No. 54 at ¶¶ 12-14, 117.  As Plaintiffs’ brief concedes, they 

abandoned all hope of recovering even a fraction of that figure well before trial.  See Dkt No. 

Case 1:17-cv-05361-VEC   Document 184   Filed 07/27/20   Page 15 of 39



 

10 

138 at 2, 36.  They had little choice since, for the reasons demonstrated below, they could neither 

prove their claims on the merits nor could they connect them to any viable theory of damages.  

Thus, Plaintiffs’ monetary recovery can be viewed as a “success” only if success is measured 

against the precarious claim for monetary relief they were left with as the case approached trial. 

In an effort to put a better spin on the results, Plaintiffs direct the Court to the percentage 

recovery available from the Plan’s insurance policies.  But this math does not work for them 

either.  Of the three layers of coverage comprising the $50 million in insurance that was 

originally available: a significant portion of the first layer ($25 million) was consumed by 

defense costs; only about two thirds of the second lawyer ($15 million) will be recovered in the 

settlement; and not one dollar will be taken from the third layer ($10 million).  It would have 

been better for all concerned if Plaintiffs had been more willing to settle this case at the outset, 

when the first layer of coverage was largely intact and available to satisfy a reasonable 

settlement demand. 

In short, while Plaintiffs’ litigation strategy may have enabled Plaintiffs’ counsel to rack 

up many billable hours which they now are using to prop up their claim for close to $9 million in 

attorneys’ fees alone, it did not serve the Plan participants particularly well. 

2. The Settlement Did Not Achieve the Changes in  
Governance That Plaintiffs Claimed Were Necessary 

Plaintiffs make much of the changes in Plan “governance” agreed to in settlement.  But 

these changes bear little resemblance to the relief Plaintiffs originally were seeking.  As with 

their backtracking on their inflated monetary claims, Plaintiffs were made to eventually realize 

that their claims were not strong enough to warrant holding out for the more intrusive 

governance changes they sought in the Complaint. 
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As a preliminary matter, it is important to remember that, well before suit was even 

commenced, the Trustees had already decided to retain an OCIO to assume the principal 

decision-making responsibilities with respect to Plan investments, including the decisions that 

were alleged to have been made imprudently.  See Ex. 1 at 27-28; Dkt. No. 139-1 at ECF p. 42.9  

The decisions whether and when to retain active investment managers, and when to replace 

them, now rest in the hands of the OCIO.  See Ex. 2 at 4.  Likewise, the determination as to what 

percentage of Plan assets should be invested in, e.g., EMEs and PE, rests with the OCIO.  While 

the Trustees still retain some responsibility for setting broad parameters on asset allocation,10 the 

OCIO determines the allocations within these broad parameters.  For example, as of December 

31, 2019, the OCIO could invest anywhere from 0 to 25% in PE, and the only guidelines relating 

to EMEs were those authorizing anywhere between 25% and 65% in global equities generally.  

See Dkt. 139-1 at ECF p. 79. Thus, if the motivation for bringing this lawsuit was to avoid 

repeating or continuing the type of investment decisions that the Complaint took issue with, there 

really was no need to pursue the Complaint at all, as the processes pursuant to which those 

decisions were made had already been fundamentally changed. 

In any event, there can be no dispute that the Settlement Agreement did not accomplish 

what Plaintiffs set out to do: kick off and replace targeted Trustees.  See Dkt No. 54 ¶ 192(E).  

As Plaintiffs’ brief in support of preliminary approval of the settlement conceded, this effort was 

designed to bolster efforts to replace the Union Trustees at the union membership Convention – 

an effort that failed resoundingly when put up to a vote.  The litigation effort was no more 

                                                 
9  Expert reports, deposition transcripts, and other documents annexed as exhibits to the 
supporting Declaration of Myron D. Rumeld are referred to hereinafter as “Ex. __”. 
10  Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the asset allocation targets will be determined by the 
new OCIO monitor, based on the Trustees’ input on investment return and risk objectives, and 
subject to Trustee veto.  Dkt. No. 139-1 at ECF p. 13 
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successful.  The only departing Trustees on the Investment Committee will be those who planned 

to retire before the settlement, and they will be replaced through the normal process. 

Having failed to achieve their principal goal of replacing Trustees, Plaintiffs settled for 

having an independent fiduciary participate at Investment Committee meetings, but without 

voting power.  Given the credentials of the independent fiduciary, and his ability to be a voice in 

the room, his presence should be welcomed by all concerned.  He is certainly welcomed by the 

Trustees, as they fully expect that he will validate the prudence of the process that the Trustees 

have been engaged in all along. 

The other categories of nonmonetary relief consist of: (i) publication of information on 

Plan investments and Trustee appointments; and (ii) replacement of Meketa Investment Group 

(“Meketa”) as OCIO monitor.  The information required is not materially different from the 

information the Trustees have provided all along.  And while the Trustees regret having to 

replace a consultant who performed admirably, its replacement is immaterial given Meketa’s 

limited role since the retention of the OCIO, and the retention of the independent fiduciary to 

help monitor the Plan’s investments. 

B. The Results Achieved in Settlement Were Modest Because Plaintiffs 
Were Unable to Prove That the Trustees Breached Their Fiduciary 
Duties, Let Alone That the Plan Suffered Any Monetary Damages 

Plaintiffs’ inability to achieve greater results in settlement is directly attributable to their 

inability to prove their case.  Notwithstanding the extensive discovery, Plaintiffs were unable to 

put even a dent in five essential and unassailable truths that were fatal to their claims. 

First, the decision to target higher rates of return was objectively prudent because it was 

consistent with a reasonable actuarial projection of the relative risks and rewards to the Plan of 

adopting this approach, as opposed to maintaining the status quo or choosing any other approach.  
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The Trustees’ expert actuary, Cary Franklin, demonstrated that point, and Plaintiffs could not 

offer a competing analysis militating in favor of any other course of action. 

Second, the specific asset allocation policies that were developed as a means to achieve 

the higher targeted rates of return – including the increases in the Plan’s holdings in EMEs and 

PE – were based on extensive vetting with the Plan’s investment consultant, Meketa.  The 

Trustees’ decision to follow that advice was the product of a procedurally prudent process, as 

found by Ms. Borzi.  Given that Ms. Borzi’s job at the Department of Labor was to determine 

whether trustee conduct was imprudent, her conclusions are compelling. 

Third, the decision to retain actively managed investments was likewise made pursuant 

to a prudent process that included extensive vetting with Meketa – one that Ms. Borzi found to 

be the best she had ever seen.  Ex. 1 at 21-22.  The same was true with respect to the Trustees’ 

evaluation of underperforming managers.  Id. at 22. 

Fourth, in addition to failing to make out the merits of Plaintiffs’ claims, Plaintiffs’ 

experts failed to present a viable theory for recoverable damages attributable to their claims. 

Finally, although Plaintiffs did not assert a free-standing claim for imprudent 

communications, the record showed that the Trustees consistently advised participants of the 

financial condition of the Plan 

1. The Evidence Established the Prudence of the  
Trustees’ Decision to Adopt New Asset Allocation  
Policies with Higher Targeted Rates of Return 

Plaintiffs’ theory was that the Trustees imprudently addressed the funding shortfall that 

the Plan confronted following the Financial Crisis of 2008 and 2009 by taking on too much 

investment risk, and, specifically, by increasing the Plan’s investments in EMEs and PE.  In so 

contending, Plaintiffs conflated two distinct decisions: first, the decision to target higher 

investment returns for the Plan portfolio as a whole; and second, the decision to adopt a 
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particular asset allocation model designed to achieve the targeted returns.  Once these decisions 

are separated out and evaluated distinctly, it becomes readily apparent that Plaintiffs had no basis 

to challenge either of them as imprudent. 

a. The Trustees Prudently Decided to  
Target Higher Rates of Return 

ERISA’s prudence standard is an objective one, which requires plaintiffs to show not 

only that the decision-making process was inadequate, but also that a hypothetical prudent 

fiduciary would have made a different decision.  See Pension Benefit Guar. Corp. ex rel. Saint 

Vincent Catholic Med. Ctrs. Ret. Plan v. Morgan Stanley Inv. Mgt. Inc., 712 F.3d 705, 718 (2d 

Cir. 2013) (“Under this objective standard, whether an ERISA fiduciary's investment decision is 

improvident depends on what a prudent man in like circumstances would do.”).  Thus, even 

before turning to the voluminous record of the Trustees’ deliberations over the Plan’s decision to 

target higher levels of return, Plaintiffs could not sustain a fiduciary breach claim based on 

allegations of excessive investment risk-taking unless they could demonstrate that a prudent 

fiduciary would have pursued a different course of action.  Plaintiffs made no effort to do so, nor 

could they since they did not proffer an expert actuary in their case in chief who could evaluate 

the relative rewards and risks associated with the Trustees’ chosen course of action and of 

potential alternative courses of action.  And the actuary they retained to rebut the Trustees’ 

actuarial expert admitted that he did not perform this task.  Ex. 9 at 5. 

The Trustees offered the report of an impeccably credentialed actuarial expert: Cary 

Franklin, a career advisor to Taft-Hartley Funds who for the last twelve years has worked for one 

of the leading actuarial firms in the country.  Ex. 3 at 29.  Franklin explained that the precarious 

financial condition facing the Plan in 2011 and thereafter did not result from adverse investment 

decisions, but rather was brought about by the Financial Crisis of 2008-2009, coupled with the 
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Plan’s ever-increasing costs of paying benefits to its aging participant population.  The cost of 

paying benefits had risen to the point where it exceeded the Plan’s income, and this deficit was 

projected to grow larger.  Id. at 1, 9-12. 

Franklin opined that the decisions made to confront these circumstances – including the 

decision in 2011 to increase the Plan’s targeted investment returns to 8%, and the decision in 

2015 to increase the targeted returns to 9% – were consistent with a proper weighing of the 

potential risks and rewards associated with these decisions.  With the use of stochastic modeling 

– the same technique that the Trustees themselves used in 2015 – Franklin determined that “the 

Plan had a better chance of recovery by seeking the higher targeted investment return under the 

revised asset allocations and that the increased investment return volatility was not a valid reason 

to avoid making either change.”  Id. at 21. 11  Relatedly, he concluded that the changes in the 

Plan’s targeted investment returns in 2011 and 2015 created “a higher likelihood of improving” 

the Plan’s solvency over the long term when compared to not making the changes, “while 

bearing no materially increased risk of short term insolvency.”  Ex. 6 at 2-3.  Overall, Franklin 

concluded that the changes made were the right decisions and were made at precisely the right 

times.  Ex. 3 at 26-27.  Thus, what Plaintiffs had characterized as excessive risk taking was, in 

fact, a calculated strategy to reduce risk.  Id. at 20. 

Once in receipt of Mr. Franklin’s report, Plaintiffs scrambled to come up with an actuary, 

David Pitts, to rebut Mr. Franklin’s opinion.  Pitts had no experience advising Taft-Hartley plans, 

aside from “a couple smaller union plans” that he “worked on” in the early part of his career 

                                                 
11  Stochastic modeling is a projection method that “[Q]uantifies the probabilities of specific 
investment and funding outcomes under alternative scenarios by generating a large number of 
simulations (e.g., 5,000 or 10,000) and then sorting the results to determine the probability of the 
outcome under study, such as the probability of insolvency or the probability of achieving a 
funding percentage goal.”  Ex. 3 at 15 n.20. 
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(about 40 years ago), no experience doing stochastic modeling for multiemployer plans, and no 

familiarity with the Pension Protection Act of 2006’s rules for underfunded plans.  Ex. 12 at 

23:4-22, 52:4-18, 54:21-23.  Pitts agreed, however, that “if under a current asset allocation 

policy, the plan’s funded status is projected to decline, it would be appropriate to consider other 

asset allocation policies” so long as “the risk-reward tradeoffs were rational.”  Id. at 141:5-12.  

He also conceded that stochastic modeling, the methodology employed by both the Trustees and 

Franklin, would be “the way to go” for purposes of making investment policy changes.  Id. at 

142:2-3.  Relatedly, the prudence and damages expert supporting Plaintiffs’ case in chief, David 

Witz, acknowledged at his deposition that it makes sense to take a plan’s critical status into 

consideration when making investment decisions, and to take on “more risk” in order to try to 

“boost returns” in such a situation.  Ex. 11 at 119:25-120:5. 

Although Pitts offered some criticisms of the manner in which Franklin conducted his 

stochastic modeling, based on experiences with single employer plans that were not relevant or 

persuasive,12 he could “not identif[y] an alternative asset allocation policy that . . . the trustees 

should have adopted” and had no opinion on “whether starting in 2011, the trustees should have 

stuck with their preexisting asset allocation policy.”  Ex. 12 at 68:22-69:6. 

                                                 
12  Pitts’ lack of experience with Taft-Hartley plans compromised his opinions.  For example, 
one of his principal criticisms of the Plan’s stochastic modeling was its failure to make 
adjustments in projected interest rates in different market conditions.  Ex. 9 at 13.  Pitts 
conceded, however, that he was not in a position to comment as to how likely it was for an 
actuary of a Taft-Hartley plan to change the interest rate assumption.  Ex. 12 at 80:13-18.  In 
fact, these plans typically do not adjust their interest rate assumptions based on changing market 
conditions.  Ex. 3 at 26. 
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b. The Trustees’ Investment Strategy Was  
Consistent with Professional Advice 

Plaintiffs’ experts attempted to cast doubt as to the prudence of the decisions to increase 

the targeted rates of return by questioning whether these decisions were consistent with the 

advice received from the Plan’s professionals.  In so contending, Plaintiffs’ experts, like 

Plaintiffs’ counsel, completely misstated the record. 

Insofar as Plaintiffs and their experts claimed that, by increasing the targeted rates of 

return, the Trustees countered Meketa’s advice, they both confused the role of the investment 

consultant and the actuarial consultant and also mischaracterized Meketa’s advice.  The primary 

basis for the decision to target higher rates of return was the analysis provided by the actuary, 

Milliman, who advised on the reasonably anticipated impact of various targeted returns on the 

Plan’s funding level.  Meketa’s role was limited to proposing allocation policies and providing 

analyses of the volatility of policies under consideration and of the likelihood that the policies 

could generate favorable or adverse results for the Plan.  These analyses did not militate against 

the strategies adopted by the Trustees.  To the contrary, the analyses provided in advance of the 

2011 asset allocation decision confirmed that, by adopting policies targeting a higher rate of 

return, the Trustees would not be taking on a materially greater risk of short term losses, but 

would be materially increasing the likelihood that the Plan would achieve returns in the long run 

that equaled or exceeded the Plan’s 7.5% interest rate assumption.  Ex. 3 at 2, 15, 20. 

The argument that the Trustees countermanded the advice of the Plan’s actuary –

Milliman – was based on Milliman’s decision to keep the interest rate assumption at 7.5%, 

notwithstanding the changes in the Plan’s targeted investment return.  Ex. 7 at 10-11.  The 

adverse inference drawn from this by Plaintiffs’ experts merely betrayed their lack of experience 
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with Taft-Hartley plans.13  As the record made clear, and as Mr. Franklin explained, the decision 

to retain the interest rate assumption was consistent with sound actuarial practice, which favors 

retaining assumptions to “consistently measure[] funding objectives.”  Ex. 3 at 26.  And as Ms. 

Borzi explained, “actuaries are governed by their own professional standards in setting the 

actuarial assumptions,” and therefore “it is common . . . for there to be a gap between the 

actuarial assumptions and targeted investment returns” used by Taft-Hartley plans.  Ex. 4 at 6 

Plaintiffs’ experts also repeatedly seized on an isolated statement in a multi-page slide 

presentation from another actuarial firm, the Mercer Company, that made its way into the Plan 

records in 2010.  On one page, deep into the report, Mercer stated that increasing the Plan’s 

targeted investment returns would be a “risky roll of the dice.”  Ex. 7 at 8, 27; Ex. 8 at 23; Ex. 9 

at 11, 18; Ex. 10 at 20, 46.  As is evident from a contextual review of the materials, the slides 

were generated, not for the Plan’s Trustees, but for an organization of contributing employers in 

the orchestra industry.  As Ms. Borzi observed, 

The principal purpose of the report was to alert these employers of the precarious 
funded condition of the Plan and the risks of significant liability for employers 
withdrawing therefrom; the report does not purport to comment on the Plan's 
specific investments or investment strategy. Additionally, the “roll of the dice” 
comment is nothing more than an acknowledgment that more aggressive 
investment strategies carry greater volatility. The report does not purport to rule out 

                                                 
13  Witz admitted, inter alia, that he lacked any Taft-Hartley experience (Ex. 11 at 148:1-6); that 
he had no experience advising plans on how to emerge from critical status (id. at 76:2-8); that he 
could not even describe what “critical status” or what “critical and declining status” means (id. at 
74:16-75:15, 304:24-305:18); that he had no idea what the industry activity assumption was – 
even though it is a critical assumption in calculating a plan’s funded status (id. at 156:19-22); 
that he was not an actuary and had not interpreted an actuarial report in over a decade (id. at 
73:5-16); and that he hadn’t observed a plan committee meeting in over a decade (id. at 62:9-
63:11).  Likewise, Mangiero admitted, inter alia, that she has never performed a study that 
evaluates the risk of a particular asset allocation (Ex. 13 at 30:10-13); she has never even 
attended an investment committee meeting of an ERISA plan, much less a multiemployer plan 
(id. at 35:21-36:6); that she had never been retained by a plan as an investment advisor or 
consultant and thus had no experience providing investment recommendations (id. at 40:3-8). 
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more aggressive investing as a possible course of action; to the contrary, it is 
specifically identified as one course of action to consider. 

Ex. 4 at 3-4. 

There is no indication whether, at the time, Mercer was even aware of the Plan’s current 

investment strategy and thus no indication of what alternative “risky” strategy Mercer was 

referring to.  Moreover, as Pitts conceded, Mercer would be in no position to evaluate the 

relative merits of pursuing stronger returns without conducting a stochastic analysis, which it 

lacked the information to perform.  Ex. 12 at 72:6-75:24.  When all was said and done, the 

isolated comment cited from the report was entitled to no weight in evaluating the prudence of 

the deliberative process that the Trustees engaged in with the Plan’s well-qualified professionals. 

2. The Decision to Increase Holdings in EMEs and PE Was Prudent 

Having failed to demonstrate that there was anything objectively or procedurally 

imprudent about the Plan’s overall investment allocation strategy, Plaintiffs reverted to the 

argument that the Trustees imprudently took on too much risk by investing in EMEs and PE.  To 

begin with, the notion that the Trustees could be taking on too much investment risk with respect 

to a particular security within the Plan’s investment line-up entirely misses the point of holding a 

portfolio of investments.  As Mr. Franklin pointed out in his report, and as Plaintiffs’ rebuttal 

actuary Pitts conceded, risk is evaluated based on the portfolio as a whole, rather than isolated 

investments within the portfolio.  Ex. 3 at 22-23; Ex. 6 at 4-5; Ex. 12 at 182:14-183:14); see also 

PBGC, 712 F.3d at 717 (“[T]he prudence of each investment is not assessed in isolation but, 

rather, as the investment relates to the portfolio as a whole”).  Thus, absent any basis for 

challenging the Trustees’ decision to target 8% returns in the aggregate in 2011, and 9% returns 

in the aggregate in 2015, there was no basis for challenging isolated investments that, when 

combined with the Plan’s other investments, were designed to achieve those targets. 
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In any event, there was no basis for contending that the Trustees’ decision to invest in 

these securities was imprudent.  As Ms. Borzi concluded, the Trustees’ asset allocation 

decisions, including their decisions to increase the Plan’s investments in EMEs and PE, were the 

product of an extensive vetting process – one that “exceeded that followed by trustees of other 

Taft-Hartley plans investing in new asset classes in terms of the enthusiasm with which the 

Trustees investigated the new asset classes before making their decision.”  Ex. 1 at 20. 

Significantly, Ms. Borzi took into account the same evidence of Trustee misgivings that 

Plaintiffs’ experts tried to weaponize by citing and quoting out of context.  Conscious of the 

increased volatility risks they were taking by increasing the Plan’s targeted returns and 

increasing their holdings in EMEs and PE to achieve these targets, the Trustees engaged in 

extensive soul-searching, some of which was expressed in sarcastic remarks as to whether they 

were “gambling” with the Plan’s assets.  Ms. Borzi correctly interpreted these remarks as 

reflective of the conscientiousness with which the Trustees addressed their responsibilities.  Id. at 

11 (concluding that the disagreement memorialized in e-mails and meeting minutes “actually 

increased the vigor with which the Trustees addressed issues and helped facilitate a healthy 

process of questioning contemplated decisions before they were adopted”).  No decisions were 

made until the Plan professionals had been repeatedly asked whether the Plan was taking on too 

much risk and had responded with assurances that the risks taken were reasonable under the 

circumstances.  See Ex. 4 at 2-3, 5.  Insofar as Plaintiffs’ experts concluded to the contrary, once 

again their opinions were tainted by a complete misreading of the record. 

a. Meketa Consistently Recommended Increasing EME Holdings 

Both Witz and Mangiero contended that the decision to increase the Plan’s holdings in 

EMEs was contrary to the advice of Meketa.  See Ex. 7 at 9-11, 32-33, 38; Ex. 10 at 20-23.  The 

record demonstrated directly to the contrary – it showed that Meketa: repeatedly endorsed a shift 
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away from domestic equities, which it viewed to be overvalued, to international equities, which 

it viewed to be undervalued; and specifically recommended the percentage allocations chosen by 

the Trustees in 2011.  When confronted with this evidence at their depositions, each of Plaintiffs’ 

experts tried in vain to argue that the evidence somehow was not a clear enough statement that 

Meketa was recommending the precise allocation, but they were eventually forced to abandon 

their position.  For example, when shown notes reflecting that Meketa stated “I’d adopt Policy 

A,” which contained an allocation of 11% to EMEs, Witz conceded that this “would seem to be a 

recommendation.”  Ex. 11 at 301:4-17.  And when confronted with the same notes, Mangiero, 

after first purporting to be “a little stuck on the word recommendation,” inevitably acknowledged 

that “I see here that they have made recommendations.”  Ex. 13 at 205:23-25, 206:14-23. 

b. The Trustees Did Not Lack Education  
About the Challenged Investments 

Witz and Mangiero contended that the Trustees had insufficient education about PE and 

EMEs to justify their decisions to invest in them.  See Ex. 7 at 7-8, 37; Ex. 10 at 33-35.  Here 

too, the record shows the opposite.  As summarized by Ms. Borzi, during “the period at issue in 

this case, the Plan provided two New Trustee Trainings in August 2010 (one by Meketa and one 

by Milliman) and one in 2014 for a later appointed Trustee; one Special Investment Retreat 

(September 10-11, 2013) focusing, in part, on PE and EME investments; and two other 

Investment Committee Retreats (January 12-14, 2015 and February 8-10, 2016).”  Ex. 1 at 14.  

Ms. Borzi was “not aware of many multiemployer plans that set aside as much time for training 

and deep-dive investment retreats as the Plan” and that “the amount of in-house 

training/education the Trustees of the Plan received was substantially greater than in most other 

plans” with which she was familiar.  Id. 
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c. PE Investments Did Not Result in Insufficient Liquidity 

In his report, Witz argued that the illiquidity of PE investments “makes a large private 

equity bet a questionable investment decision for [a] Trustee of a pension with a funding 

shortage like AFM.”  Ex. 7 at 47-48.  But during his deposition, Witz conceded these were just 

abstract remarks, and that the Plan had “sufficient assets to cover the liquidity needs.  Ex. 11 at 

200:2-3. 

d. Advice Received from OCIO Candidates and Other  
Investors Not Retained by the Plan Did Not Call Into  
Question the Trustees’ Investment Decisions 

Similarly misplaced was the effort by Plaintiffs and their experts to seize on information 

obtained from firms that applied to serve as Outsourced Chief Investment Officer in the fall of 

2016 as a basis for challenging the Trustees’ asset allocation decisions.  Because the candidates 

initially proposed more conservative asset allocation policies, Plaintiffs and their experts inferred 

that there must have been something imprudent about the asset allocation policies selected by the 

Trustees.  But as the expert deposition testimony revealed, Plaintiffs’ experts had been provided 

incomplete information, consisting only of recommendations made before the candidates were 

informed about the Plan’s funding challenges.  Ex. 11 at 305:19-307:18.  The candidates’ revised 

submissions adopted allocation strategies with risk profiles that closely resembled those adopted 

by the Trustees.  See id. at 309:1-312:20. 

Other assertions made by Plaintiffs’ experts similarly mischaracterized the record.  For 

example, Witz referred to two investment managers who stated at different points in time that 

they were “underweight” in EMEs for their other clients, as a basis for opining that the Trustees’ 

actions ran contrary to prevailing industry trends.  Ex. 7 at 39, 44-45.  Witz conveniently failed 

to mention, however, that other managers contemporaneously offered positive forecasts for 

EMEs and recommended that the Plan increase its EME exposure.  Ex. 4 at 5-6. 
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In short, Plaintiffs’ reliance on advice allegedly rendered by other professionals who 

were not even retained by the Trustees to advise them on allocation policies was not only 

misplaced, but based on blatant misstatements of the record. 

3. The Trustees’ Investments in Actively  
Managed Products Were Prudent 

In his report, Witz purported to challenge the Trustees’ decision to invest with active 

managers (Ex. 7 at 55-65), notwithstanding what Ms. Borzi found to be a record of consistent 

questioning of Meketa by the Trustees and their other professionals as to the reasons for 

recommending such investments.  Ex. 1 at 20.  Witz later conceded at his deposition that there 

was not in fact anything imprudent about the retention of active managers in inefficient markets 

(Ex. 11 at 90:23-25) – which was precisely the reasoning offered by Meketa.  Ex. 1 at 21.  Witz 

also specifically confirmed that there was nothing imprudent about investing with active 

managers in several of the key sectors in which the Plan was so invested, including: (i) small 

caps (Ex. 11 at 204:22-205:1); (ii) EMEs (id. at 210:23-211:4); (iii) PE (id. at 214:7-19); and (iv) 

any other sectors that lack an investable index (id. at 91:11-19). 

Witz ultimately limited his criticism of the Trustees to their alleged failure to remove 

active managers who were underperforming.  Ex. 8 at 25-34; Ex. 11 at 86:25-88:24.  But the 

record did not support this assertion either.  As Ms. Borzi observed, the Trustees responded to 

Meketa’s manager presentations “with pointed questions and pushback directed” at whether to 

retain managers who appeared to be underperforming for a period of time.  Ex. 1 at 24.  

Meketa’s typical response was that it was inappropriate, and potentially disserving, for the Plan 

to replace managers based on short periods of underperformance.  Id.  Once again, Ms. Borzi 

found the decision-making process “reflected substantially more attention to their due diligence 

obligation than Trustees of other funds that I have observed.”  Id. 
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Plaintiffs’ experts countered that the Trustees failed to use adequate metrics to evaluate 

the performance of the active managers and remove managers that consistently unperformed.  

Ex. 7 at 62-64; Ex. 10 at 40-44.  Here again, their lack of any relevant experience with Taft- 

Hartley plans renders these opinions unreliable.  One can always come up with some other tool 

that plan fiduciaries could have utilized.  But doing so does not demonstrate that the fiduciaries 

breached their fiduciary duty.  As Ms. Borzi explained, “Meketa’s philosophy of taking a long-

term approach to investment manager performance, and rejection of inflexible rules to evaluate 

when a manager should be removed, is typical of investment consultants for multiemployer 

defined benefit plans.”  Ex. 1 at 23.  In fact, the investment managers that Ms. Borzi worked with 

during her career advising multiemployer plans “consistently expressed the view that the fact 

that a manager may underperform its benchmark for several years, without more, may not be 

cause for removal.”  Id.  In any event, Plaintiffs’ experts made no effort to show how any 

additional metrics would have altered the decisions on whether to retain or replace 

underperforming managers, given the extensive discussions that were had with Meketa. 

4. Plaintiffs Failed to Present a Viable Theory of Damages 

Separate and apart from their failure to present a winnable claim on the merits, Plaintiffs 

failed entirely to present a basis for finding monetary damages attributable to the stripped-down 

theories of liability that remained after their experts were deposed. 

Even though Witz’s attack on the riskiness of the Plan’s investments was directed 

specifically at what he considered to be excessive PE and EME investments, Witz failed to 

provide a damages model that measured what the Plan’s returns would have been had it refrained 

from these investments.  He also made no effort to measure damages attributable to the asset 

allocation decision in 2015, which increased the Plan’s holdings in PE and EMEs, and did not 
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dispute the report of the Trustees’ damages expert, Dr. Andrew Carron, insofar as it 

demonstrated that there were no damages attributable to that decision. 

Witz’s only damages analysis consisted of a variety of models that seemingly were 

designed to demonstrate what would have happened had the Plan not adopted the new asset 

allocation model in 2011.  Ex. 5 at 7-8.  These calculations were fatally flawed since they failed 

to measure but/for losses as of the date the asset allocation policy was adopted in November 

2011, and failed to compare the Plan’s performance to what the performance would have been 

had the prior policy been fully implemented.  Ex. 5 at 8-11.  Dr. Carron showed that, when 

Witz’s models were adjusted to correct for these inaccuracies, there in fact were no losses 

attributable to the decision to adopt the 2011 asset allocation policy – to the contrary, the Plan 

wound up ahead of where it would have been otherwise.  Id. at 8-12. 

With respect to the retention of active managers, Witz purported to show how much 

better the Plan’s return would have been if all the Plan assets had been invested in index funds.  

Ex. 7 at 65-71.  But as noted above, Witz conceded there was nothing imprudent about the 

decision to use active managers in many of the sectors in which the Plan was so invested.  His 

only complaint was about the retention of certain underperforming managers.  Ex. 11 at 86:25-

88:24.  But Witz did not measure damages attributable to the retention of those managers.14 

In short, as the case approached trial, Plaintiffs had no means to demonstrate that there 

were any damages attributable to the fiduciary breach claims they advanced. 

                                                 
14  Dr. Carron demonstrated that there was in fact only one manager that consistently 
underperformed but was not replaced.  Ex. 5 at 16.  The other managers at issue had periods of 
both underperformance and strong performance, which would explain Meketa’s reluctance to 
recommend that they be terminated. 
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5. The Trustees Prudently Kept Participants  
Informed of the Plan’s Financial Status 

One of the principal arguments raised by class members who have filed objections to the 

Settlement is that the Trustees misled them with respect to the health of the Plan and the 

performance of its investments and that the Settlement does not adequately compensate them for 

this conduct.  See, e.g., Dkt No. 180 at ECF p. 11 (Yanagita), p. 12 (Buchanan), p. 37 (Stoner).  

This is yet another instance where Plaintiffs’ strategy of litigating by hyperbole and in the public 

forum has come back to haunt them.  In response, Plaintiffs claim that the principal spokesman 

for this objection, Mr. Stoner, is “delusional.”  Dkt No. 167 at 26.  A better characterization 

would be to say that he and other class members are confused by some of the misplaced 

arguments Plaintiffs made.  A corrective response is warranted here too. 

Although Plaintiffs presented no independent cause of action for imprudent 

communications, and alleged no harm resulting from such alleged communications, the 

Complaint included accusations that the Trustees failed to keep the participants apprised of the 

deteriorating financial condition of the Plan.  It is hard to understand how these Plaintiffs could 

even be making such an assertion since the lead Plaintiff, Andrew Snitzer, admitted that, for the 

entire period between 2010 and 2016, he did not once open a piece of mail from the Plan.  In any 

event, the record shows that any claim for improper communications is pure fiction; the 

materials that Mr. Snitzer neglected to read contained fulsome information about the Plan’s 

financial condition, consistent with the Trustees’ legal responsibilities. 

In accordance with applicable legal requirements, the Plan issued each year an Annual 

Funding Notice and a Notice of Critical Status, which reported on the funded status of the Plan 

and projected the Plan’s ability to pay promised benefits into the future.  See ERISA § 101(f), 29 

U.S.C. § 1021(f); ERISA § 305(b)(3)(D)(i)-(ii), 29 U.S.C. § 1085(b)(3)(D)(i)-(ii).  In addition, 
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because the Plan was in “critical status,” a condition associated with underfunded plans, see 

ERISA § 305(b)(2), 29 U.S.C. § 1085(b)(2), the Trustees were also required by the Pension 

Protection Act (“PPA”) to come up with a Rehabilitation Plan, the details of which were also 

reported to the participants.  See ERISA § 305(a)(2), 29 U.S.C. § 1085(a)(2).  The Rehabilitation 

Plan, along with Notices of Critical Status mailed to participants each year, showed – contrary to 

the assertions made in the Complaint and by Plaintiffs’ experts – that the Trustees had addressed 

the Plan’s funding shortfall through a variety of measures independent of changes to the Plan’s 

targeted investment returns.  These measures included reducing future benefit accruals, 

reductions in or elimination of various other forms of benefits that were permitted by ERISA, 

and increasing contributions owed by participating employers.  See Ex.14 at DEF0102655-60; 

Ex. 15 at DEF0087543-44.  In other words, the Trustees and the Plan sponsors repeatedly made 

the “hard decisions” that Witz contended needed to be made by a plan confronting a funding 

shortfall.  Ex. 11 at 270:4-7; see also id. at 118:23-119:7.15 

The Annual Funding Notices and Notices of Critical Status were accompanied by cover 

letters, which are not required by ERISA and which boiled down the relevant information into 

plain English.  Among other things, the cover letters reported that the Plan was in critical status, 

listed the Plan’s funded percentage for the prior year, and provided a projection for the following 

year.  See, e.g., Ex. 15 at DEF0087534; Ex. 16 at DEF0147904.  Each letter also provided a 

                                                 
15  It bears noting that Witz’s misstatement that the Trustees failed to adopt these changes was 
mimicked by Plaintiffs’ counsel in publicly touting to the press the success that they achieved in 
connection with the settlement of this litigation.  See Joseph N. DiStefano, The musicians’ 
pension fund lost big on risky bets. A Cheltenham-born saxophonist led a suit that won a $27 
million settlement, THE PHILADELPHIA INQUIRER, Mar. 28, 2020, 
https://www.inquirer.com/news/pension-musicians-gamble-20200328.html. 
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forecast of how long the Plan could be expected to remain solvent.  See, e.g., Ex. 15 at 

DEF0087533; Ex. 16 at DEF0147904. 

A review of these documents confirms that the participants were put on notice of the 

funding challenges facing the Plan, consistent with the information provided by the Plan’s 

actuaries.  For example, between 2011 and 2015, the cover letters consistently explained that the 

Plan was in critical status because “future contributions are projected to be less than that the 

amount required by law to meet minimum funding requirements.”  See id.  The Annual Funding 

Notices and letters also advised that, while the Plan was not projected to emerge from critical 

status for ten years (see, e.g., Ex. 16 at DEF0147877), the Plan was projected by the actuaries to 

remain solvent for the next twenty years, which was as far out as the actuaries could reliably 

make such projections.  See, e.g., id. at DEF0147904. 

In July 2016, when it became clear that the Plan was no longer projected to ever emerge 

from critical status, participants were advised that the Trustees had updated the Rehabilitation 

Plan to reflect the same.  Ex. 17 at DEF0080988.  Whereas, before, the Rehabilitation Plan had 

been designed to employ reasonable measures to eventually emerge from critical status, the 

Rehabilitation Plan was now designed to “employ reasonable measures to forestall insolvency.”  

Id.  Tellingly, the cover letter explained that, although the Plan was still projected to remain 

solvent for the next twenty years, “[l]onger-term projections show that insolvency may occur.”  

See id. at DEF0081027.  The letter also explained that the Plan’s continued solvency “over the 

long term depend[ed] most on its investment performance over time and also on the total amount 

of contributions made to the Plan.”  See id.  The letter closed by warning participants that if the 

Plan were to “reach[] a point where insolvency is projected within 20 years,” under the law that 

status would “allow benefits to be restructured for the purpose of avoiding insolvency and 
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continuing to pay benefits for the indefinite future.”  See id.; see also id. at DEF0080988.  

Subsequently, in December 2016, the Plan sent a letter advising that it was “possible that [the 

Plan] w[ould] be in critical and declining status in the future, even as early as next year.”  Dkt. 

No. 64-6 at 3.  The letter explained that, under legislation passed by Congress in 2014, “critical 

and declining status” means that a plan is “projected to be insolvent and unable to pay benefits 

within a 15 to 20 year period,” and that the plan could apply to the Treasury Department to 

reduce earned benefits as a measure to ensure long-term solvency.  Id.  As it turned out, the Plan 

did not enter into critical and declining status until 2019. 

In short, the Plan participants were consistently advised of the Plan’s funded status based 

on the contemporaneous information available from the Plan’s actuaries.  Although participants 

were understandably concerned when learning in late 2016 that the Plan could be applying for 

benefit cuts, it is not true that they were not forewarned of these circumstances.16 

V. A REDUCTION IN THE LODESTAR IS WARRANTED IN THIS CASE 

The discussion above establishes why Class Counsel should not receive fees of any more 

than 25% of the Settlement Amount, or about $6.7 million, in addition to costs.  The fact that 

Class Counsel’s lodestar is allegedly about $7.9 million, does not compel a different conclusion. 

To begin with, Plaintiffs have not provided this Court with sufficiently detailed records to 

perform a lodestar cross-check.  In support of their motion, Class Counsel submitted a single-

                                                 
16  In his objections, Mr. Stoner made unsupported allegations about Plan counsel’s advising or 
collaborating with the Trustees on making misrepresentations to Plan participants or failing to 
keep them adequately informed about the Plan’s investments.  Dkt No. 170 at ECF p. 38.  As 
previously explained, these assertions are based on a misreading or mischaracterization of the 
available record; Plaintiffs admit that the Trustees posted quarterly investment summaries on the 
Plan’s website and provided copies of the full Meketa investment reports to anyone who 
requested them.  Dkt No. 174 at 3-4 n.4.  Mr. Stoner’s contention that counsel is somehow 
conflicted from representing the Trustees because they represent the Plan is likewise misplaced, 
as the Trustees’ counsel stated in their letter to the Court on April 27, 2020.  Dkt No. 153 at 2. 
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page chart that lists, for each attorney, only the hourly rate, the total hours, and the cumulative 

lodestar, and then aggregates those figures to come up with a lodestar calculation of over $7.94 

million.  See Dkt No. 168-1.  While it is true that the Court need not “exhaustively scrutinize the 

hours documented by class counsel,” where the lodestar is used as a cross-check, Espinal, 2019 

WL 5425475, at *4, the single-page chart submitted by Class Counsel is wholly inadequate and 

deprives this Court of the opportunity to perform a meaningful cross-check.  See Lacovara v. 

Hard Rock Cafe Int’l (USA), Inc., No. 10-cv-7821, 2012 WL 603996, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 24, 

2012) (while recognizing that “the lodestar acts merely as a cross-check” court concluded that 

summary showing attorney names, rates, and total hours spent was inadequate to show 

reasonableness of request for 33%); Pla v. Renaissance Equity Holdings LLC, No. 12-cv-5268, 

2014 WL 113721, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 13, 2014) (finding “a one-page summary” inadequate 

because it “undermine[d] the Court's ability to evaluate the reasonableness of the fee request”).  

In fact, Class Counsel’s failure to properly document the time they spent litigating this matter 

“provides an independent basis to reduce the fee award.”  Pla, 2014 WL 113721, at *2. 

Had the detailed time records been provided, they might well have demonstrated that a 

reduction in lodestar is warranted here to adjust for excessive hours spent on fruitless activities.  

Quaratino, 166 F.3d at 425 (“The district court should exclude excessive, redundant or otherwise 

unnecessary hours”).  By way of example, they might have shown that Plaintiffs pursued a time-

intensive, politically motivated – but completely baseless – witch-hunt of Trustee and former 

Local 802 President Tino Gagliardi in an effort to establish that he had deleted relevant emails, 

notwithstanding the prompt issuance of a litigation hold.  This took the shape of (1) requests for 

thousands of emails from all Trustees containing the term “delete” (which appears in boilerplate 

in most emails); (2) demands for statements from all the Trustees that no spoliation had 
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occurred; and (3) the deposition of Local 802’s IT Director, who testified that she had uncovered 

no evidence of any deletions by Trustee Gagliardi.  Trustee Hair was also targeted by an absurd 

and baseless assertion that the decision to replace Plan counsel in 2016 was prompted by a 

romantic relationship between him and someone in the firm.  Ironically, even though Plaintiffs 

eventually were made to realize there was no truth to this laughable assertion, the strategy has 

spawned class member objections that Plaintiffs now seek to quell.  Dkt No. 182.17  The Plan 

should not have to fund these failed – yet destructive – smear campaigns. 

The most substantial waste of time is attributable to Plaintiffs’ professed strategy of 

turning down earlier settlement offers that did not exhaust the lion’s share of the available 

insurance proceeds.  For the reasons stated above, this strategy served merely to divert to defense 

costs insurance proceeds that could have funded an earlier, reasonable settlement.  By Plaintiffs’ 

own admission, the amount they obtained in settlement was limited by the amount of insurance 

proceeds that remained.  Plaintiffs’ counsel should not be permitted to unduly raid these limited 

settlement proceeds because their failed strategy caused them to generate a high lodestar. 

VI. CLASS COUNSEL HAS NOT PROVIDED SUPPORT FOR THE EXPENSES 
THEY SEEK TO RECOVER 

Class Counsel also seeks $863,811.37 in expenses, including expert, travel, and 

photocopying expenses.  “Counsel is entitled to reimbursement of reasonable litigation expenses 

from the settlement fund when the expenses are ‘necessary and were directly related to the 

                                                 
17  In his objection filed on July 24, class member Martin Stoner complained that the depositions 
posted on the Settlement Website on July 15, including Mr. Hair’s, contained unauthorized 
redactions.  Dkt No. 183, at ECF pp. 6-7.  Mr. Stoner’s complaint is misplaced.  The parties 
alerted the Court that, consistent with past practice, they would redact confidential information 
from the transcripts before they were posted.  Dkt Nos. 174, 176.  Consistent with that 
notification, the testimony redacted involved either personal information or confidential 
information relating to other clients/plans.  If the Court requires further details, Defendants 
would be pleased to provide them. 
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results achieved.’”  Merryman v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., No. 15-cv-9188 (VEC), 2019 

WL 6245396, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 22, 2019) (citation omitted).  Although they have offered to 

provide backup to the Court upon request, their papers do not presently have any detail that 

would permit the Trustees, Class Members or the Court to assess these sizeable expenses.  In the 

absence of such support – which should have been provided in the first instance – the Trustees 

invite the Court to reduce the expenses by 20%, and thereby increase the Plan’s recovery by a 

corresponding amount.  See id., at *7-8 (reducing travel expenses by 20% in the absence of detail 

regarding expenses incurred during depositions); Volpe v. Nassau County, No. 12-cv-2416, 2016 

WL 6238525, at *10 (E.D.N.Y. Oct. 24, 2016) (“Courts in this Circuit regularly reduce 

attorneys’ fees by 50 percent for travel time.”) (Citation omitted). 

VII. PLAINTIFFS SHOULD NOT RECEIVE A SERVICE AWARD 

Because the service awards requested by Plaintiffs are modest, relative to the amount of 

the Settlement, and Class Counsel has agreed to pay them from any award they receive, the 

Trustees do not wish to dwell on why their request is inappropriate.  But it should be noted that 

service awards are ordinarily awarded to compensate plaintiffs for their time and effort, and that 

purpose will not be achieved here.  See Melito v. Am. Eagle Outfitters, Inc., No. 14-cv-2440, 

2017 WL 3995619, at *16 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 11, 2017).  Plaintiffs have gone on record stating that 

they will donate the awards to an organization with a political agenda that they support.  Dkt No. 

167 at 30.  These collateral objectives should not serve as grounds for awarding service awards.18 

  

                                                 
18  The Court should give no credence to the completely unsubstantiated, and offensive, 
assertions that Plaintiffs risked retaliation from union leaders by bringing this lawsuit. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the reasons discussed above, this Court should reduce the percentage fee award and 

expenses requested by Class Counsel, and disallow the service awards to Plaintiffs. 

Dated: July 27, 2020 
New York, NY 

Respectfully submitted, 

By:  /s/ Myron D. Rumeld  
Myron D. Rumeld 
Deidre A. Grossman 
Neil V. Shah 
PROSKAUER ROSE LLP 
Eleven Times Square 
New York, NY 10036 
(212) 969-3021 
mrumeld@proskauer.com 

Jani K. Rachelson 
Zachary N. Leeds 
COHEN, WEISS AND SIMON LLP 
900 Third Avenue 
New York, NY 10022 
(212) 356-0221 
jrachelson@cwsny.com 

Counsel for Defendants 
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DECLARATION OF 
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I, Myron D. Rumeld, hereby declare and state as follows: 

1. I am a partner at the law firm of Proskauer Rose LLP and counsel for Defendants 

in the above-captioned matter. 

2. I submit this Declaration in support of Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ 

Motion for Attorneys’ Fees, Costs, and Service Awards, and specifically in order to attach the 

expert reports, excerpts of deposition transcripts, and participant disclosures referenced below. 
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3. The expert reports and deposition transcripts referenced in paragraphs 4 to 16 

are publically available on the settlement website at http://www.afm-

epfsettlement.com/Pages/CourtDocuments.html.  

4. Attached as Exhibit 1 is a true and correct copy of the expert report of Phyllis 

Borzi, dated April 9, 2019. 

5. Attached as Exhibit 2 is a true and correct copy of the expert report of Dr. 

Andrew Carron, dated April 9, 2019.  

6. Attached as Exhibit 3 is a true and correct copy of the expert report of Cary 

Franklin, dated April 7, 2019. 

7. Attached as Exhibit 4 is a true and correct copy of the rebuttal expert report of 

Phyllis Borzi, dated May 20, 2019.  

8. Attached as Exhibit 5 is a true and correct copy of the rebuttal expert report of 

Dr. Andrew Carron, dated June 5, 2019.  

9. Attached as Exhibit 6 is a true and correct copy of the supplemental expert report 

of Cary Franklin, dated May 17, 2019. 

10.  Attached as Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of the expert report of David 

Witz, dated April 9, 2019, which was amended on June 1, 2019 (although it still bears the April 9 

date). 

11. Attached as Exhibit 8 is a true and correct copy of the rebuttal expert report of 

David Witz, dated June 5, 2019.  

12. Attached as Exhibit 9 is a true and correct copy of the rebuttal expert report of 

David Pitts, dated May 31, 2019.  
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13. Attached as Exhibit 10 is a true and correct copy of the rebuttal expert report of 

Susan Mangiero, dated May 31, 2019.  

14. Attached as Exhibit 11 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the transcript 

from the deposition of David Witz, taken on June 25, 2019.  

15. Attached as Exhibit 12 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the transcript 

from the deposition of David Pitts, taken on July 2, 2019.  

16. Attached as Exhibit 13 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the transcript 

from the deposition of Susan Mangiero, taken on July 22, 2019.  

17. Attached as Exhibit 14 is a true and correct copy of the American Federation of 

Musicians and Employers’ Pension Plan’s (the “Plan”) Rehabilitation Plan, dated April 15, 2010 

(Bates labeled DEF0102654-63).  

18. Attached as Exhibit 15 is a true and correct copy of the Annual Funding Notice 

for the Plan for the Plan Year Beginning April 1, 2010 and Ending March 31, 2011, and Notice 

of Critical Status for the Plan Year beginning April 1, 2011 and Ending March 31, 2012, and the 

accompanying cover letter, dated July 29, 2011 (Bates labeled DEF0087533-34, DEF0087537-

42, DEF0087543-44). 

19. Attached as Exhibit 16 is a true and correct copy of the Annual Funding Notice 

for the Plan for the Plan Year Beginning April 1, 2014 and Ending March 31, 2015, and Notice 

of Critical Status for the Plan Year Beginning April 1, 2015 and Ending March 31, 2016, and the 

accompanying cover letter, dated July 29, 2015 (Bates labeled DEF0147904, DEF0147876-80, 

DEF0147863-64). 
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20. Attached as Exhibit 17 is a true and correct copy of the Annual Funding Notice 

for the Plan for the Plan Year Beginning April 1, 2015 and Ending March 31, 2016, and Notice 

of Critical Status for the Plan Year Beginning April 1, 2016 and Ending March 31, 2017, and the 

accompanying cover letter, dated July 29, 2016 (Bates labeled DEF0081027, DEF0080987-91, 

DEF0081039-40). 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct to the best of my 

knowledge, information, and belief. 

Dated: July 27, 2020 
 

/s/ Myron D. Rumeld  
    Myron D. Rumeld 
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